1969

South East Furniture and State Insurance Fund v. Industrial Commission Op Utah and Dean L. Barrett : Brief of Appellants

NATURE OF CASE

This matter arises out of a claim by the defendant, Dean L. Barrett, requesting additional compensation benefits under the Workmen's Compensation Act of Utah.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

The Industrial Commission ruled that the Applicant was entitled to workmen's compensation benefits notwithstanding the fact that the applicant had settled his case for \$6,250.00 with his automobile insurance carrier.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The plaintiff, State Insurance Fund, seeks a reversal of the Industrial Commission's ruling that defendant, Dean L. Barrett, is entitled to both workmen's compensation benefits and the proceeds received from an "uninsured motorist coverage" provision of his automobile liability insurance.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant, Dean L. Barrett, filed on January 24, 1968 an application for benefits under the Utah Workmen's Compensation Act (R. 8). He alleged in said application and at the time of the hearing on this matter that on November 10, 1966 while being employed by the plaintiff South East Furniture Company, he was involved in an automobile accident during the course of his employment. The plaintiff, The State Insurance Fund, was the carrier for Mr. Barrett's employer and in connection with his accident had paid

medical expenses and temporary disability benefits (R. 10). The plaintiff, The State Insurance Fund, denied further liability for the reason that the defendant, Dean L. Barrett, had collected proceeds from his automobile liability carrier, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, in the amount of \$6,250.00 (R. 96).

Pursuant to said denial a hearing was held before the Industrial Commission on April 10, 1968. At the hearing the defendant, Mr. Barrett, testified that he sustained a whiplash type of injury when his automobile was struck by an automobile driven by one Albert Kindred. It appears from the record that Mr. Kindred was at fault and that Mr. Barrett claimed proceeds under his liability policy with State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company. This policy was made part of this record (R. 89). The policy had an "uninsured automobile coverage" provision. Said provision provides in part as follows:

"COVERAGE U—*Damages for Bodily Injury Caused by Uninsured Automobiles.* To pay all sums which the insured or his legal representative shall be legally entitled to recover as damages from the owner or operator of an uninsured automobile because of bodily injury sustained by the insured, caused by accident and arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of such uninsured automobile; . . . "

At the time of the accident in question Mr. Barrett was driving his own vehicle. The liability insurance on his vehicle was purchased and the premium was

paid by Mr. Barrett. Mr. Barrett's employer, the South East Furniture Company, required him to have liability coverage for his automobile (R. 41). Mr. Barrett was paid on a piece-work basis and was reimbursed by his employer for the use of his automobile on a mileage basis (R. 45).

Subsequent to the time that Mr. Barrett claimed and received benefits from the State Insurance Fund he, with his attorney, negotiated with the State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company and entered into a document entitled "Release and Trust Agreement" (R. 96). Said agreement is attached hereto and is marked Exhibit A of Appendix 1.

Mr. Barrett received compensation benefits pursuant to the provisions of 35-1-62 U.C.A. 1953, as amended.¹ This statute provides that if compensation is

1 35-1-62. "Injuries or death caused by wrongful acts of third parties—Remedies of employee—Rights of employer or insurance carrier in cause of action—Maintenance of action—Disbursement of proceeds of recovery— When any injury or death for which compensation is payable under this title shall have been caused by the wrongful act or neglect of another person not in the same employment, the injured employee, or in case of death his dependents, may claim compensation and the injured employee or his heirs or personal representative may also have an action for damages against such third person. If compensation is claimed and the employer or insurance carrier becomes obligated to pay compensation, the employer or insurance carrier shall become trustee of the cause of action against the third party and may bring and maintain the action either in its own name or in the name of the injured employee, or his heirs or the personal representative of the deceased, provided the employer or carrier may not settle and release the cause of action without the consent of the commission.

"If any recovery is obtained against such third person it shall be disbursed as follows:

(1) The reasonable expense of the action, including attor-

paid based upon an accident which was caused by the wrongful act or neglect of another person, that the employee may claim compensation and may also claim damages against "such third persons". The statute also provides that if compensation is claimed and paid, as in this case, the insurance carrier becomes the trustee of the cause of action against such "third party" and may act either in its own name or in the name of the employee. The statute further provides that any balance over and beyond the amount of compensation which had been paid should be "applied to reduce or satisfy in full any obligation thereafter accruing against the person liable for compensation" (35-1-62(3)) after the carrier or employer is compensated in full.

Mr. Barrett received a recovery and executed the document entitled "Release and Trust Agreement" without advising the plaintiffs and after receiving these proceeds makes claim for additional compensation.

The State Insurance Fund urged upon the Industrial Commission that it was entitled to reimbursement for sums expended and that it would have no additional liability for compensation until the claim of the applicant would exceed the sum of \$6,250.00 pursuant to the provisions of 35-1-62, U.C.A. 1953, as amended. The

neys' fees, shall be paid and charged proportionately against the parties as their interests may appear.

(2) The person liable for compensation payments shall be reimbursed in full for all payments made.

(3) The balance shall be paid to the injured employee or his heirs in case of death, to be applied to reduce or satisfy in full any obligation thereafter accruing against the person liable for compensation."

Industrial Commission held that Mr. Barrett was entitled to both Workmen's Compensation benefits and the proceeds received by him pursuant to his uninsured motorist coverage of his automobile liability policy.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION ERRED IN ALLOWING THE EMPLOYEE DOUBLE RECOVERY.

The initial issue that needs to be determined is whether or not the proceeds received pursuant to an uninsured motorist clause is to be considered recovery against a "third person" within the meaning of 35-1-62, U.C.A. 1953, as amended. An "uninsured motorist" provision is a relatively new type of coverage that is included within liability policies to protect drivers from being injured by irresponsible persons unable to answer in damages for their negligent acts on the highway.

Section 41-12-21.1 sets forth the mandatory requirement (effective July 1, 1967) that all automobile liability policies must contain uninsured coverages. The argument cannot be made, therefore, that one who has uninsured coverage has voluntarily, at his own instance, obtained a different type of coverage than other drivers on our public highways. The compulsory requirement ^{of} all policies ^{to} include an uninsured motor-

ist clause is to protect innocent parties from the financial inability of an "uninsured motorist". This general principle is articulated at 79 ALR 2d page 1252 in an annotation entitled "Rights and Liabilities Under 'Uninsured Motorist' Coverage". This annotation in its introduction states as follows:

§1. Scope and related matters.

"This annotation deals with cases which have discussed 'uninsured motorists coverage,' a new type of automobile insurance which came into being as the result of public concern over the increasingly important problems arising from injuries inflicted by negligent motorists who are uninsured and financially irresponsible.

"Designed to further close the gaps inherent in motor vehicle financial responsibility and compulsory insurance legislation, this insurance coverage is intended, within fixed limits, to provide financial recompense to innocent persons who receive injuries, and the dependents of those who are killed, through the wrongful conduct of motorists who, because they are uninsured and not financially responsible, cannot be made to respond in damages."

The question to be determined, therefore, is whether or not recovery, pursuant to an uninsured motorist claim is to be considered recovery against the third party tort-feasor or whether or not recovery should be considered as recovery pursuant to a personal contract of insurance. Or, stated differently, is recovery under an uninsured motorist claim to be considered recovery against "third persons" within the meaning of 35-1-62.

In a recent Oregon case, *Peterson v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company*, 238 Ore. 106, 393 P. 2d 651, the Oregon court initially discussed the reason and the effect of uninsured motorist clauses. The court stated as follows:

“[1] The basic purpose of the uninsured motorist provision seems clear. It provides protection for the automobile insurance policyholder against the risk of inadequate compensation for injuries or death caused by the negligence of financially irresponsible motorists. See Note, 2 Will. L.J. 56, 61 (1962); *Commissioners of the State Insurance Fund v. Miller*, 4 A. D. 2d 481, 166 N.Y.S. 2d 777, 779 (1st Dept. 1957). In other words, the legislative purpose in creating compulsory uninsured motorist coverage was to place the injured policyholder in the same position he would have been in if the tortfeasor had had liability insurance.”

The question presented in this case was whether or not the Insurance Commissioner of Oregon had authority to approve provisions in the uninsured motorist section of a policy reducing the liability of the carrier by the amount paid to a person in the form of Workmen's Compensation Benefits.

The court stated in part as follows:

“In all of the decisions mentioned, the defendant, seeking to take advantage of the plaintiff's receipt of benefits from some other source, has been a tort-feasor; but here, the defendant is a contracting party, not a tort-feasor. *This*

difference, however, is not material in the sense that the basic legislative purpose in requiring uninsured motorist insurance is to place the injured party in the same position it would have been in if the tort-feasor had had liability insurance.” (Emphasis added).

The Oregon Court, therefore, has properly construed an uninsured motorist clause to have the same effect as recovery from the defendant tort-feasor. When a claim is presented to an insurance company under an uninsured motorist clause, the insurance carrier negotiates with the insured in the same manner as it would if it was representing the third party tort-feasor. This anomaly is brought about by the provisions of the policy which provided the insurer is liable “to pay all sums which the insured . . . shall be legally entitled to recover as damages”. The Oregon Court’s decision, therefore, is realistic and has properly characterized the effect of an uninsured motorist policy. To argue differently would be engaging in a legal fiction which is not supported by logic or practical analysis.

Subsequent to the accident, the State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, for all practical purposes, was negotiating with, and effectuated a settlement as if it represented the third party tort-feasor, one Alfred Kindred. It is respectfully urged that recovery in the form of settlement or otherwise, based upon an uninsured motorist clause should be considered a recovery against “a third person” within the meaning of 35-1-62, U.C.A. 1953, as amended.

There is authority that both compensation and workmen's compensation benefits may be received. See *Commissioners of State Insurance Fund v. Miller*, 4 App. Div. 2d 481, 166 N.Y. Supp. 2d 777; *Horne v. Superior Life Insurance Company*, 203 Va. 282, 123 S.E. 2d 401 (1962).

It is submitted, however, that a better reasoned decision in *Jones v. Morrison*, U.S. D. Ct., Ark. 284 F. Supp. 1016 (1968). In this case the court examined the Arkansas statute in regard to third party liability. This statute is similar in import to 35-1-62. The Arkansas statute, 81-1340, provides as follows:

“Third party liability.—(a) Liability unaffected.

(1) The making of a claim for compensation against any employer or carrier for the injury or death of an employee shall not affect the right of the employee, or his dependents, to make claim or maintain an action in court against any third party for such injury, but the employer or his carrier shall be entitled to reasonable notice and opportunity to join in such action. If they, or either of them, join in such action they shall be entitled to a first lien upon two-thirds [2-3] of the net proceeds recovered in such action that remain after the payment of the reasonable costs of collection, for the payment to them of the amount paid and to be paid by them as compensation to the injured employee or his dependents.

“(2) The commencement of an action by an employee or his dependents against a third party

for damages by reason of an injury, to which this act [§§ 81-1301—81-1349] is applicable, or the adjustment of any such claim shall not affect the rights of the injured employee or his dependents to recover compensation, but any amount recovered by the injured employee or his dependents from a third party shall be applied as follows: Reasonable costs of collection shall be deducted; then one-third [1-3] of the remainder shall, in every case, belong to the injured employee or his dependents, as the case may be; the remainder, or so much thereof as is necessary to discharge the actual amount of the liability of the employer and the carrier; and any excess shall belong to the injured employee or his dependents.”

The general intent of the Arkansas statute is, of course, the same as our statute in regard to third party actions. It should be noted, however, that the statute is somewhat more stringent in that the employee must give notice to his employer or insurance carrier in order to afford them an opportunity to join in the action.

The issue presented to the court was whether or not settlement against an insurance carrier would be considered settlement against “a third person”. The court specifically faced this issue and held that recovery against the insurance carrier would be considered a recovery both against any “third party.” The court recognized the holding in *Horne v. Superior Life Insurance Company*, supra, and *Commissioners of State Insurance Fund v. Miller*, supra, and stated:

“In *Horne* it was held that recovery by the injured party against the uninsured motorist carrier was not a recovery against ‘any other party.’ In other words, this recovery is not equivalent to a recovery against a third party tortfeasor. This part of the opinion is in conflict with the applicable provisions of the Workmen’s Compensation Act. Any recovery by the injured party, regardless of whom from, is in the nature of compensation for the injuries. The ‘workmen’s compensation’ is designed to protect employees against work-connected accidents resulting from any cause, including employers’ negligence, the employee’s own negligence, and acts of God. Also protected against is negligence of third parties. However, in this event the compensation carrier is given the right to recover its expenses from the third party. When the injury is the result of acts of the employer, the employee or God, there is no one to whom the compensation carrier may look for reimbursement. This is the risk which forms the basis for the compensation insurance premiums. This is not the case when the negligence of third parties enters the picture. Were it otherwise, the injured employee would be entitled to collect his workmen’s compensation benefits and then seek recovery against a third-party tortfeasor, with the possibility of something in the nature of a ‘double recovery.’ To provide such is not the purpose of the Workmen’s Compensation Act. When an injured party recovers *on account of his injuries*, regardless of from which third party, he has been compensated and, having already paid, the compensation carrier is entitled to reimbursement to the extent provided in the Act. Ark.State.Ann. § 81-1340 (*supra*).”

It is submitted, therefore, that the nub of the matter is whether or not when a person is injured within the scope of his employment, he is entitled to double recovery. It is submitted that compensation benefits is a unique type of insurance, whose purpose is to afford quick and speedy help to the workmen when injured. It is submitted that double recovery in these circumstances is not appropriate. In examining the philosophy of the uninsured motorist clause and particularly the fact that said clause is now a mandatory provision in all liability policies, the employee should not be allowed to collect twice.

POINT II

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION ERRED IN ALLOWING WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION BENEFITS IN LIGHT OF THE RELEASE AND TRUST AGREEMENT.

As mentioned earlier herein, the defendant, Dean L. Barrett, and his attorney, after workmen's compensation benefits had been paid, negotiated with the insurance carrier and received recovery in the amount of \$6,250.00. Mr. Barrett entered into a form contract which was entitled "Release and Trust Agreement," which is attached hereto marked Exhibit A of Appendix 1. Said agreement assigned to the liability insurance carrier any rights he, Mr. Barrett, may have against the

third party tort-feasor, one Albert Kindred. It is the position of the plaintiff's herein that this act, for all practical purposes, negates the plaintiff, the State Insurance Fund, the right it has to pursue its action pursuant to 35-1-62, U.C.A. 1953, as amended.

35-1-62 has gone through many legislative changes. Initially, the employee had the right to elect to proceed against a third party, or receive compensation. Subsequent thereto if an injured employee was desirous of claiming compensation, he was required to assign his claim against the "third party" to the carrier. In 1945 the legislature amended 35-1-62 to its present form. The statute, it is submitted, carefully provides that there is but one claim that can be brought against a third person. The employer may commence the action and claim compensation, but if recovery is had, "the person liable for compensation benefits shall be reimbursed in full for all payments made" and the balance should be paid to reduce or satisfy any additional compensation obligation. The statute also provides that if compensation is paid, the employer becomes a trustee of the cause of action and may bring an action against a third person, either in its own name or in the name of the injured employee. The statute allows, therefore, the ultimate wrongdoer to be answerable for the damage that he causes.

It appears clear that the legislature never intended that there be two causes of action against the wrongdoer. It is clear also that if the employee commences the

action and prosecutes the same successfully, that the carrier must be compensated in full. If the carrier commences the action, he does so in a trust relationship and is reimbursed in full. It is submitted, therefore, that the giving by Mr. Barrett an assignment of his right to proceed against the third party tort-feasor to his liability carrier, that he has effectively negated the plaintiffs right to full reimbursement.

Certainly, the Release and Trust Agreement received by State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company vests with them the claim that Mr. Barrett may have against Albert Kindred, the tort-feasor. Now the plaintiff, The State Insurance Fund, would not be allowed to sue the third party tort-feasor in its capacity as Trustee, pursuant to the provisions of 35-1-62, since the carrier knows the injured employee has assigned all right, title and interest to another entity. If action is commenced by State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, said company has no duty to see that the plaintiff, The State Insurance Fund, be reimbursed in full, and if recovery is had against the third party tort-feasor, by State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, is the plaintiff still required to pay compensation?

The effect of this agreement entitled "Trust and Release Agreement" is simply that the defendant, Mr. Barrett, is attempting to split a cause of action. It is submitted that 35-1-62 clearly does not allow for the splitting of a cause of action. It is clear also that split-

ting of causes of action in Utah are not favored. The obvious reason being the multiplicity of claims and the protection of the potential defendant from successful law actions.

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