1970

## **South East Furniture and State Insurance Fund v. Industrial Commission Op Utah and Dean L. Barrett : Brief of Respondents**

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT THE APPLICANT WAS ENTITLED TO WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION BENEFITS NOTWITHSTANDING ANY CONTRACTUAL RECOVERY HE MAY HAVE HAD UNDER THE UNINSURED AUTOMOBILE COVERAGE PROVISION OF HIS PERSONAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY.

The plaintiff State Insurance Fund denied liability beyond the \$617.25 originally allowed Barrett on the ground that Barrett's private insurer, State Farm Mutual, stood in the shoes of the tortfeasor whose acts resulted in injury to Barrett. On the basis of this position, the plaintiff concluded that State Farm Mutual was a third-party within the meaning of 35-1-62, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and therefore a party against whom the plaintiffs became trustees of the cause of action. Since respondent had previously settled with State Farm on the basis of uninsured automobile coverage, plaintiff State Insurance Fund felt that it had been thereby foreclosed from pursuing the action against the thirty party tortfeasor.

Plaintiff asserts to this court that Section 41-12-21.1 U.C.A., 1953, as amended, sets forth the *mandatory* requirement that all automobile liability policies must contain uninsured motorist coverage. (Plaintiff's Brief at 6) Plaintiff argues from that point that Barrett is in no different position, and has obtained no "different type of coverage than other drivers on our public highways." (Plaintiff's Brief at 6) Plaintiff's assertion reasonably states the correct language of the provision — so far as it goes. Plaintiff's studied omission of the language of the last sentence of that section cannot escape notice:

"The named insured shall have the right to reject such coverage, and unless the named insured requests such coverage in writing, such

coverage need not be provided in a renewal policy or a supplement to it where the named insured had rejected the coverage in connection with a policy previously issued to him by the same insurer." 41-12-21.1 U.C.A., 1953 as amended.

Read with the preceding portion of the statement, this sentence clearly renders the requirement of uninsured motorist coverage permissive — it must be offered, but it need not be accepted. In addition, it need not even be offered "in a renewal policy or a supplement." Mandatory? Barrett freely and knowledgeably contracted and paid for uninsured motorist's coverage. His rights with respect to the policy were *ex contractu*, not *ex delicto*.

Another court has considered the legal relation of an insured and insurer insofar as uninsured motorist coverage is concerned. *In Booth v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.*, 253 La. 521, 218 So.2d 580, 28 ALR 3d, 573 (1969), the court discussed such coverage and its interpretation in other jurisdictions:

"In an effort to afford protection to the innocent victim injured by an uninsured and financially irresponsible motorist, many states have enacted legislation requiring insurance companies to afford coverage, for an additional premium, within the general automobile liability insurance policy for loss to the insured occasioned by the negligence of the operator of an uninsured motor vehicle,"

The jurisprudence of other states interpreting similar statutes and the insurance coverage afforded under similar policy provisions has been uniform in concluding that the action by the insured against his insurer for damages suffered as a result of a collision with an uninsured motorist is contractual . . ." (Citing: *Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co. v. Mason*, 210 So.2d 475 (Fla.); *Schleif v. Hardware Dealer's Mutual Fire Ins. Co.*, 218 Tn. 489, 404 S.W.2d 490; *DeLuca v. Motor Vehicle Accident Indem. Corp.*, 17 N.Y.2d 76, 268 N.Y.S. 2d 289, 215 N.E.2d 482; and lesser courts in New York State)

The court said further:

"The uninsured motorist provision closely resembles the policies of insurance which reimburse an insured for medical expenses or property damage resulting from an automobile accident . . .

The uninsured motorist provision is not insurance or indemnification for the uninsured motorist, *and the insurer does not stand in the shoes of the uninsured motorist who is the tortfeasor.*" (emphasis added) (Citing: *Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co. v. Harleysville Mut. Cas. Co.*, 125 S.E.2d 840 (Va.); *Horne v. Superior Life Ins. Co.*, 123 SE2d 401 (Va.); *Drewry v. State Farm Mut. Automobile Ins. Co.*, 129 S.E.2d 681 (Va.); *Laird v. Nationwide Ins. Co.*, 134 S.E.2d 206 (So. C.); *Hill v. Seaboard Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 374 SW.2d 606 (Mo.); *Dominici v. State Farm Mut. Automobile Ins. Co.* 390 P.2d 806 (Mont.); *Kivouac v. Healey*, 181 A.2d 634 (N.H.)

Although the *Booth* case examined the legal status of the uninsured motorist coverage for the purpose of determining which period of limitation of action applied, the cases last cited were noted for their decisions regarding the point in question; whether such coverage is contractual or otherwise.

In *Commissioners of State Ins. Fund v. Miller*, 166 N.Y.S.2d 777 (N.Y. 1957), 79 ALR 2d 1256, the court held "that the compensation carrier had no claim against the insurance proceeds under a statute giving it a lien against recoveries from third persons negligently injuring on employee." The court said the insured did not recover from the tortfeasor but received payment from his insurer, whose liability was contractual although based in part on the contingency of a third party's tort liability. Pointing out that its right to a lien would remain unimpaired if the insurer achieved a recovery from the tortfeasor and that it could pursue him if the employer and his insurer failed to act, the court said the compensation carrier was not entitled to the benefit of any insurance by which the employee chose to provide additional protection at his own expense.

*Peterson v. State Farm Mut. Automobile Ins. Co.*, 393 P.2d 651 (Ore.) examined among other things, "the legislative purpose in creating *compulsory* uninsured motorist coverage," as noted in plaintiffs brief at page 8. (emphasis added) In holding that the Insurance Commissioner had no authority to approve uninsured motor-

ist coverage provisions which reduced the insurer's liability by the amount paid to the insured as workmen's compensation benefits, the court said:

"The common law is clear that an injured party cannot recover his total damages from each of two or more tortfeasors. . . . But the common law regarding recovery of benefits from more than one source, other than the tortfeasor, is not so clear. In *Cary v. Burriss* [citation omitted], we held that the injured plaintiff, a federal employee whose medical expenses had been paid by the United States Employees' Compensation Commission, could recover these same expenses from the defendant tortfeasor. *This holding is in accord with the law in most other jurisdictions.*"

Plaintiff's reliance on a friendly paragraph torn from the context which gives it meaning ignores the conclusion of the court in this case-in-point that an Industrial Commission cannot use uninsured motorist coverage as an excuse for avoiding or reducing payment of workmen's compensation benefits.

Plaintiff cites *Jones V. Morrison*, 284 F. Supp. 1016 (W.D. Ark. 1968), as supporting his contention that payment by an insurer pursuant to uninsured motorist coverage is equivalent to recovery against a third-party tortfeasor. In fact, the primary issue presented to the court was the question of apportionment of liability between two insurance carriers. The employee, who was admittedly covered by his personal policy of insurance,

was involved in an accident with an uninsured motorist while driving his employer's car which also was covered by uninsured motorist coverage. Pursuant to a comparative liability statute, the trial court apportioned liability and found ultimately that the employee was entitled to \$15,000.00 which was to be paid by both insurers. Since each carrier had identical provisions limiting recovery under the uninsured motorist coverage to \$10,000.00, the question of apportionment was raised to the appellate court. The court noted that each policy contained identical "other insurance" provisions:

"5. Other Insurance: With respect to bodily injury to an insured while occupying an automobile not owned by a named insured under this endorsement, the insurance hereunder shall apply only as excess insurance over any similar insurance available to such occupant. . . ."

The provision continued with a statement regarding rights under uninsured motorist coverage, providing generally, that the insurer was liable only for any liability in excess of that amount provided by the limits of the "other insurance," including uninsured motorist coverage.

The court cited *Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice*, Vol. 8 Sec. 4914 pp. 400-402 for the proposition that the vehicle owner's insurer is primarily liable. The court said:

“This statement indicates, and the court agrees, that, as a general rule, the insurance on the vehicle involved is the primary insurance” insofar as there is “other insurance.”

\* \* \*

Therefore, it is the opinion of the court that [the employer’s] uninsured motorist protection should be exhausted, and [the employee’s insurer] should contribute to that extent necessary to satisfy the remainder of the judgment against the uninsured defendants.”

The court examined an ancillary issue :

“Another contention which has been advanced subsequent to the earlier opinion and judgment is the statement by [the employer’s insurer] in its Motion for Apportionment to the effect that recovery from the insurance companies by the plaintiff should be reduced by . . . the amount paid the plaintiff pursuant to the Workmen’s Compensation Act. . . . [The employee’s insurer] agrees; the court, however, does not.

The policies of both [insurers] provide that the uninsured motorist protection shall not inure directly or indirectly to the benefit of any workmen’s compensation or liability benefits carrier. . . . The court is of the opinion that to give any effect of this provision would be to contravene the laws of the State of Arkansas.

Ark. Stat. Ann. Sec. 81-1340 provides as follows :



‘Third party liability — (a) Liability unaffected. (1) The making of a claim for compensation against any employee shall not affect the right of the employee, or his dependents, to make a claim or maintain an action in court against any third party for such injury, but the employer or his carrier shall be entitled to reasonable notice and *opportunity to join* in such action. . . .’” (emphasis added)

Compare the Arkansas Statute with Utah’s Statute:

“When any injury or death for which compensation is payable under this title shall have been caused by the wrongful act or neglect of another person not in the same employment, the injured employee, or in case of death of his dependants, may claim compensation and the injured employee or his heirs or personal representative may have an action for damages against such third person. If compensation is claimed and the employer or insurance carrier becomes obligated to pay compensation, *the employer or insurance carrier shall become trustee of the cause of action* against the third party. . . .” (emphasis added)

The general intent of the Arkansas statute *is not*, as asserted by plaintiff, is not the same as Utah’s statute in regard to third party actions.

Utah’s legislature has clearly vested an employer or insurance carrier with rights superior to those of the insured by making the compensation carrier *trustee* of

the cause of action. The Arkansas statute is permissive in merely entitling the employer or insurance carrier an "opportunity to join in such action." (Ark. Stat. Ann. Sect. 81-1340(a) (1))

The Jones court went on to say:

"The judgment for the plaintiff is against the third party tortfeasors and, because they are uninsured against the two insurance companies. The insurance companies are not tortfeasors."

12 Couch on Insurance 2d, Sec. 45-650 at p. 585 was quoted by the court as saying:

"The right of subrogation 'against any other party' given an employee against whom a claim has been made under the workmen's compensation law does not include the right which an injured employee has against the insurer under an uninsured motorist provision of a liability policy required by statute, and in view of the public policy and welfare aspects of the workmen's compensation law the employer's right of subrogation under such law against the negligent third party is superior to that of the insurer under the uninsured motorist law."

The Court noted that the decisions in *Horne v. Superior Life Ins. Co.*, 123 S.E. 2d 401 (1962 Va.), and *Commissioners of State Ins. Fund v. Miller*, 4 App. Div. 2d 481, 166 N.Y.S.2d 777, were supportive of the fore-

going statement but felt that "part of the opinion [in Horne] is in conflict with the applicable provisions of the [Arkansas] Workmen's Compensation Act."

The result of this case was that a Virginia decision could not be applied to an Arkansas statute to find that workmen's compensation payments should be deducted from the liability of the carriers of the uninsured motorist coverage.

*Horne v. Superior Life Ins. Co.*, supra, is virtually on all fours with the instant case. Horne settled with his insurer under the terms of uninsured motorist coverage and subsequently executed a "Policy Holder's Release and Trust Agreement." Horne then filed a claim for workmen's compensation which was denied on the ground that he had destroyed his employer's rights of subrogation. The court, at p. 404, met the question head-on:

"The question arises as to whether the right of subrogation 'against any other party' given the employer in the [pertinent statute] includes the rights that the employee has against the insurer under the uninsured motorist provision of a liability policy which is required by statute.

The precise issue is one of first impression. It is not the purpose of the uninsured motorist law to provide coverage for the uninsured vehicle, but its object is to afford the insured *additional protection* in event of an accident (emphasis added). Here [the employee's insurer] does not

stand in the shoes of . . . the uninsured motorist. Its policy does not insure [the uninsured motorist] against liability. It insures Mrs. Horne and others protected under the policy against inadequate compensation. [The insurer's] liability to its insured is contractual, even though it is based upon the contingency of a third party's tort liability, and Horne's employer . . . does not become a third party beneficiary under the insurance contract. . . . Mrs. Horne chose to provide, at her expense, additional protection under the uninsured motorist provision for herself and others protected thereby [sic] and not for the [employer] or its compensation carrier."

Justice Botein concluded similarly, in *Commissioners of the State Insurance Fund v. Miller, supra*, that while "the compensation carrier has a right to expect an injured employee to pursue whatever remedies he may have against a third-party tortfeasor, and if the employee fails to do so, the compensation carrier may protect its lien by pursuing his remedies for him . . . it has no right to expect an employee to supplement his common law remedies and protect the compensation carriers lien, by purchasing his own insurance."

This case, like *Horne, supra*, is substantially identical to the instant case. Miller claimed Workmen's Compensation benefits and attempted to sue the tortfeasor. Upon learning that the tortfeasor was an uninsured

motorist, he made a claim against his insurer pursuant to uninsured motorist coverage. The State Insurance Fund asserted a lien on the proceeds to the extent of the compensation benefits paid.

Meeting the argument of the compensation carrier, the court said:

“The Fund argues that this makes no difference [that the employee did not recover from the tortfeasor, but received payment from his own insurer], that it has a lien on all tort recoveries, and that the defendant’s insurer has agreed to stand in the shoes of the tortfeasor. Defendant’s insurer cannot, however, be deemed the *alter-ego* of the tort-feasor. *It does not insure the tort-feasor against liability; it insures its policy holder against the risk of inadequate compensation for his compensable injuries.* (emphasis added). Its liability to defendant is contractual, although premised in part upon the contingency of a third party’s tort liability.”

The *Horne* and *Miller* cases, *supra*, deciding the exact question which is before this court, have both concluded that an employee can recover workmen’s compensation benefits in addition to uninsured motorist coverage benefits; that the benefits derived from uninsured motorist coverage are a contractual obligation of the insurer; that the insurer does not stand in the shoes of the third party tort feasor; that uninsured motorist coverage does not inure to the benefit of the compensation

carrier; that uninsured motorist coverage is contingent compensation contracted for and paid by the insured to protect himself from the risk of inadequate compensation for compensable injuries.

## POINT II

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